
IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF 
PHILADELPHIA COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA

CIVIL TRIAL DIVISION

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
By Attorney General Josh Shapiro, CIVIL ACTION - EQUITY

Plaintiff,
vs. Case No. ____________

Dominion Management of Delaware, Inc. D/B/A 
CashPoint, 8032 Leesburg Pike, Vienna, VA 
22182, and 
Dominion Management Services, Inc., 308 E. 
Market St, Leesburg, VA 20176, 

-and-

Michael H. Lester, individually and as President 
and owner of Dominion Management of Delaware, 
Inc., 7338 Wayfarer Drive, Fairfax Station, VA 
22039, and
Kevin A. Williams, individually and as Vice 
President and owner of Dominion Management of 
Delaware, Inc., 2123 Galloping Way, Vienna, VA 
22181

_________ Term, 2018

Defendants. 

NOTICE TO DEFEND

You have been sued in court. If you wish to defend against the claims set forth in the 
following pages, you must take action within twenty (20) days after this complaint and 
notice are served, by entering a written appearance personally or by attorney and filing in 
writing with the court your defenses or objections to the claims set forth against you. You 
are warned that if you fail to do so the case may proceed without you and a judgment may 
be entered against you by the court without further notice for any money claimed in the 
complaint or for any other claim or relief requested by the plaintiff. You may lose money 
or property or other rights important to you.

YOU SHOULD TAKE THIS PAPER TO YOUR LAWYER AT ONCE. IF YOU 
DO NOT HAVE A LAWYER, GO TO OR TELEPHONE THE OFFICE SET FORTH 
BELOW. THIS OFFICE CAN PROVIDE YOU WITH INFORMATION ABOUT 
HIRING A LAWYER.
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IF YOU CANNOT AFFORD TO HIRE A LAWYER, THIS OFFICE MAY BE 
ABLE TO PROVIDE YOU WITH INFORMATION ABOUT AGENCIES THAT MAY 
OFFER LEGAL SERVICES TO ELIGIBLE PERSONS AT A REDUCED FEE OR NO 
FEE.

Philadelphia County Bar Association 
1101 Market Street

Philadelphia, PA 19107 
Phone (215) 238-6300 

www.philadelphiabar.org 
PA Bar Association: www.pabar.org

AVISO

Le han demandado a usted en la corte.  Si usted quiere defenderse de esta demanda expuesta en 
las siguiente páginas, usted tiene veinte (20) días a partir de la fecha en que la demanda y la 
notificación fueron servidas para tomar acción mediante la introducción de su apariencia, 
personalmente o a través de un abogado, y entregarle a la corte, en forma escrita, sus defensas o 
sus objeciones a los reclamos expuestos en contra de su persona.  Sea avisado que si usted no se 
defiende o toma ninguna acción, puede que el caso o demanda en contra suya continúe, y puede 
que una decisión o resolución sea declarada en su contra sin previo aviso o notificación, por 
cualquier dinero reclamado en la demanda, o por cualquier otro reclamo o compensación 
solicitada por el/la demandante.  Usted puede perder dinero o sus propiedades u otros derechos 
importantes para usted.

USTED DEBE TOMAR ESTE DOCUMENTO A SU ABOGADO 
INMEDIATAMENTE.  SI USTED NO TIENE A UN ABOGADO VAYA EN PERSONA O 
LLAME POR TELEFONO A LA OFFICINA LISTADA A CONTINUACION ABAJO.  
ESTA OFICINA LE PUEDE PROPORCIONAR CON INFORMACION ACERCA DE 
COMO EMPLEAR A UN ABOGADO.

SI USTED NO TIENE DINERO PARA CONTRATAR O PAGAR UN ABOGADO, 
ESTA  OFICINA PUEDE PROVEERLE INFORMACION ACERCA DE AGENCIAS 
QUE PUEDEN OFRECER SERVICIOS LEGALES A PERSONAS ELEGIBLES A UN 
HONORARIO O COSTO REDUCIDO, O GRATIS.

SERVICIO DE REFERIDO DE ABOGADOS
Philadelphia County Bar Asociación 

1101 Market Street
Philadelphia, PA 19107 
Phone (215) 238-6300

www.Philadelphiabar.org 
PA Bar Association: www.pabar.org
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NICHOLAS F. B. SMYTH
Senior Deputy Attorney General

PA Attorney I.D. No. 307972
Office of Attorney General

Bureau of Consumer Protection
1600 Arch Street, 3rd Floor 

Philadelphia, PA  19103
412-880-0475

Attorney for Plaintiff
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF 
PHILADELPHIA COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA

CIVIL TRIAL DIVISION

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
By Attorney General Josh Shapiro, CIVIL ACTION - EQUITY

Plaintiff,
vs. Case No. ____________

Dominion Management of Delaware, Inc. D/B/A 
CashPoint, 8032 Leesburg Pike, Vienna, VA 
22182, and 
Dominion Management Services, Inc., 308 E. 
Market St, Leesburg, VA 20176, 

-and-

Michael H. Lester, individually and as President 
and owner of Dominion Management of Delaware, 
Inc., 7338 Wayfarer Drive, Fairfax Station, VA 
22039, and
Kevin A. Williams, individually and as Vice 
President and owner of Dominion Management of 
Delaware, Inc., 2123 Galloping Way, Vienna, VA 
22181

_________ Term, 2018

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT

AND NOW, comes the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, by Attorney General Josh 

Shapiro, through the Bureau of Consumer Protection (Commonwealth or Plaintiff), and brings 

this action pursuant to the Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-

1, et seq. (Consumer Protection Law), to restrain unfair methods of competition and unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce declared unlawful by Section 

201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law. The Consumer Protection Law authorizes the Attorney 

General to bring an action in the name of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, to restrain by 

temporary and/or permanent injunction, unfair methods of competition or unfair or deceptive 
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acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce declared unlawful by Section 201-3 of 

the Consumer Protection Law.  

The Commonwealth brings this action against: (1) Dominion Management of Delaware, 

Inc. d/b/a CashPoint (CashPoint); (2) Dominion Management Services, Inc.; (3) Michael H. 

Lester (Lester); and (4) Kevin A. Williams (Williams) (collectively, Defendants) and alleges the 

following: 

INTRODUCTION

1. In this action, the Commonwealth seeks to enforce the following statutes: (a) the 

Corrupt Organizations Act (COA), 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911; (b) the Consumer Protection Law; and

(c) the Loan Interest and Protection Law (LIPL), 41 P.S. § 101, et seq.

2. At all times relevant hereto, Defendants engaged in trade and commerce by 

offering, selling, and originating motor vehicle title loans (Title Loans) to Pennsylvania 

borrowers and by servicing and collecting on borrowers’ title loans. 

3. The Commonwealth has received numerous complaints from consumers harmed 

by the scheme alleged herein. Defendants have engaged in practices that have harmed thousands 

of Pennsylvania borrowers by: (1) collecting interest on Title Loans that is orders of magnitude 

higher than the maximum legal interest rate, (2) encumbering the titles of thousands of motor 

vehicles by placing liens on their titles with the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation 

(PennDOT),which in most cases blocks borrowers from selling their vehicles, and (3)

repossessing and selling the motor vehicles owned by borrowers who could not keep up with the 

usurious interest payments on their illegal Title Loans.

4. The public interest is served by seeking before this Honorable Court a permanent 

injunction to restrain the methods, acts, and practices alleged, including restitution and 

Case ID: 181004224



6

disgorgement of all income and monies Defendants have derived from these methods, acts, and 

practices, as well as civil penalties and investigative and litigation costs.

JURISDICTION

5. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 931 of the 

Judicial Code, 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 931(a).

VENUE

6. Venue lies with this Court pursuant to Pa.R.C.P. 1006(a)(1). 

PARTIES

7. Plaintiff is the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania by Attorney General Josh 

Shapiro, through the Bureau of Consumer Protection, with offices located at 1600 Arch St, Suite 

300, Philadelphia, PA 19103.

8. CashPoint is a for-profit Delaware corporation that maintains a registered 

corporate address at 2231 North DuPont Highway, New Castle, DE 19720 and a principal place 

of business located at 8032 Leesburg Pike, Vienna, VA 22182. It filed a Certificate of 

Dissolution with the Delaware Division of Corporations on November 15, 2017.

9. CashPoint operated the websites www.cashpointVA.com, 

www.cashpointDE.com, and www.cashpointPA.com. As of April 3, 2018, the website 

www.cashpointPA.com was redirecting traffic to www.cashpointDE.com. (Exemplars of the 

cashpointVA.com website are attached hereto as Exhibit “A.” The cashpointDE.com website 

was substantially the same as the cashpointVA.com website, except with different store locations 

listed.)

10. Dominion Management Services, Inc. d/b/a CashPoint is a for-profit Delaware 

corporation that maintains a registered corporate address at 2231 North DuPont Highway, New 
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Castle, DE 19720 and a principal place of business located at 308 E. Market St, Leesburg, VA 

20176. 

11. Neither CashPoint nor Dominion Management Services, Inc. are registered or 

licensed with the Pennsylvania Department of State, Bureau of Corporations, or with the 

Pennsylvania Department of Banking and Securities. Neither entity is registered to use the 

fictitious name “CashPoint” with the Pennsylvania Department of State.

12. Lester is an individual residing at 7338 Wayfarer Drive, Fairfax Station, VA 

22039, with a principal place of business is located at 8032 Leesburg Pike, Vienna, VA 22182.

He was CashPoint’s President and directed, supervised, controlled, approved, formulated, 

authorized, ratified, benefited from, and / or otherwise participated in the acts and practices 

hereinafter described. At all times relevant hereto, he was an owner of CashPoint.

13. Williams is an individual residing at 2123 Galloping Way, Vienna, VA 22181,

with a principal place of business is located at 8032 Leesburg Pike, Vienna, VA 22182. He was 

CashPoint’s Vice President and Secretary, and he directed, supervised, controlled, approved, 

formulated, authorized, ratified, benefited from, and / or otherwise participated in the acts and 

practices hereinafter described. At all times relevant hereto he was an owner of CashPoint.

BACKGROUND

A. Pennsylvania’s Restrictions on Usurious Lending

14. Under Section 201 of LIPL, 41 P.S. § 201, the maximum lawful rate of interest 

for the loan and use of money in amounts less than $50,000 is six percent per year.

15. The six-percent interest cap applies to all consumer lenders except those lenders 

who are licensed under the Consumer Discount Company Act (CDCA), 7 P.S. §§ 6201-6219, 

and who make loans in accordance with the limitations and requirements of that statute. See Pa. 
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Dept. of Banking v. NCAS of Delaware, LLC, 948 A.2d 752 (Pa. 2008). This cap applies to all 

credit-related charges, however labeled, and applies to credit lines as well as fixed-amount loans.

Id.

16. The Supreme Court has established that “the effect of these two statutes [CDCA 

and LIPL] is that if a lender is licensed by the Department [of Banking] in accord with the 

CDCA, it can charge between 6–24% on loans under $25,000. If it is not licensed, it is bound by 

the 6% cap imposed by the LIPL.”  Cash Am. Net of Nevada, LLC v. Com., Dep’t of Banking, 

607 Pa. 432, 437–38 (2010).

17. None of the Defendants are licensed under the CDCA, and thus they are 

prohibited from making or collecting on any consumer loans to Pennsylvania citizens that charge 

interest at rates in excess of six percent.

B. Defendants’ Illegal Title Lending Scheme

18. Defendants have engaged in trade and commerce within Pennsylvania by

offering, servicing, and providing Title Loans to consumers while using consumers’

Pennsylvania-registered vehicles as collateral, collecting on these loans by placing calls to 

Pennsylvania borrowers, and repossessing and selling consumers’ collateral vehicles in 

Pennsylvania. 

19. Between January 2013 and August 2017, Defendants solicited, negotiated, and 

executed over 3,200 Title Loans to Pennsylvania residents for amounts below $25,000 and 

interest rates above 6% without maintaining proper licensure with the Pennsylvania Department 

of Banking as required by the CDCA, 7 P.S. § 6201, et seq., and LIPL, 41 P.S. § 101, et seq.

These title loans amounted to $2.5 million in credit extended. (An exemplar of a loan agreement 

is attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”)
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20. Defendants issued Title Loans with interest rates above 200%, greatly exceeding 

the maximum limit of 6% per annum in place for loans at $50,000 or lower as set forth by LIPL,

41 P.S. §§ 201-202.

21. Defendants charged interest rates of 360% per annum in some instances.

22. As collateral for the Title Loans that Defendants issued to Pennsylvania 

consumers, Defendants filed liens with PennDOT on vehicles owned by Pennsylvania residents 

and titled in Pennsylvania.

23. Defendants collected monies from Pennsylvanians who sent, directed, and/or 

authorized payments from Pennsylvania to the Defendants by cash, check, money order, wire, 

and credit card.

24. Defendants mailed “Past Due” notices to Pennsylvanians when those 

Pennsylvanians did not make their payments on time.

25. Defendants have repossessed vehicles in Pennsylvania when consumers defaulted 

on the usurious Vehicle Title Loans.

26. Defendants contracted with third-party repossession companies based in 

Pennsylvania, which then stored repossessed vehicles at their Pennsylvania locations and then 

sold directly or auctioned at Pennsylvania auctions repossessed vehicles to Pennsylvania 

residents and / or motor vehicle dealers.  

27. Defendants advertised over television and radio and conducted business within 

the Commonwealth despite not registering a business association or fictitious name with the 

Pennsylvania Department of State. 
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C. Scope of Harm to Pennsylvania Consumers

28. Between January 2013 and March 20, 2018, Defendants collected $5.7 million 

from Pennsylvania consumers toward repayment of the $2.5 million in illegal Title Loans. 

Defendants collected much of this money via credit card charges, in violation of the card 

networks’ agreements, which prohibit the use of credit cards to repay debts.

29. Between June 2013 and January 2018, Defendants repossessed at least 559

vehicles owned by Pennsylvania consumers. Defendants carried out the vast majority of these 

repossessions - 518 - using Pennsylvania repossession agents. 

30. During that same period, Defendants charged Pennsylvania consumers more than 

$3.7 million in finance charges that were well in excess of the 6% per annum usury limit.

31. As of March 20, 2018, Defendants had at least 1,146 liens outstanding on 

Pennsylvania motor vehicles.

32. As of March 20, 2018, Defendants had at least 405 Title Loans outstanding to 

Pennsylvania consumers.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

COUNT ONE

Violations of Corrupt Organizations Act, Section 911(b)(1)

33. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by this reference all prior paragraphs of this

Complaint.

34. Under COA, 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911, “racketeering activity” includes the collection 

of any money on account of a debt which arose as the result of the lending of money at a rate of 

interest exceeding 25% per annum. 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(h)(1)(iv). The above-described scheme 
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constitutes “racketeering activity” in that the consumer credit offered and collected by

Defendants is at an effective rate far exceeding 25% per annum.

33. Under 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(b)(1), it is unlawful for any person who has received

income derived, directly or indirectly, from a pattern of “racketeering activity” in which such

person participated as a principal, to use or invest, directly or indirectly, any part of such income

in the operation of any “enterprise.”

34. This language was adopted from the federal RICO statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a). 

COA does not define “Principal.” Under federal law, a “principal” includes anyone who 

“commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or 

procures its commission.” 18 U.S.C. § 2.

35. The COA defines an “enterprise” as “any individual, partnership, corporation, 

association or other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact 

although not a legal entity, engaged in commerce and includes legitimate as well as illegitimate 

entities and government entities.” 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(h)(3). 

36. On multiple occasions as detailed above, Defendants participated as a principal in 

the racketeering activity described above in that they aided, abetted, counseled, commanded, 

induced or procured the usurious and illegal lending described above.

37. Defendants derived income from such racketeering activity and used or invested 

that income in the operation of an “enterprise,” as defined by 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(h)(3), such 

enterprises being, among others, CashPoint and Dominion Management Services, Inc.

38. Through their above-described acquisition, use and investment of funds acquired 

from a usury scheme, Defendants violated and are continuing to violate 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 

911(b)(1).

Case ID: 181004224



12

39. The Attorney General is expressly authorized to enforce COA, 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 

911(e), by seeking an appropriate order preventing and restraining any violations, 18 Pa. C.S.A. 

§ 911(d).

40. A violation of COA “shall be deemed to continue so long as the person who 

committed the violation continues to receive any benefit from the violation.” 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 

911(c). Accordingly, in addition to enjoining Defendants from any future acquisition, use and 

investment of funds acquired from this or any similar usury scheme targeting Pennsylvania 

consumers, any equitable relief ordered against Defendants should also include, and the 

Commonwealth therefore demands, an order divesting and disgorging all income or monies 

obtained, directly or indirectly, from activity related to Defendants’ loans, or from any services 

provided in connection with such loans, attributable to Pennsylvania consumers, and invalidating 

any beneficial interest or title lien related to loans to Pennsylvania consumers.

COUNT TWO

Violations of Corrupt Organizations Act, Section 911(b)(4)

41. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by this reference all prior paragraphs of this 

Complaint.

42. Under 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(b)(4), it is unlawful for any person “to conspire to 

violate” §§ 911(b)(1) or (b)(3).

43. Defendants conspired to violate 18 Pa. C.S.A. §§ 911(b)(1) and/or (b)(3), in 

violation of 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(b)(4), by engaging in—and profiting from—lending activity that 

they know is illegal in Pennsylvania.
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44. The Attorney General is expressly authorized to enforce the Corrupt 

Organizations Act, 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(e), by seeking an appropriate order preventing and 

restraining any violations, 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(d).

45. A violation of the PA COA statute “shall be deemed to continue so long as the 

person who committed the violation continues to receive any benefit from the violation.” 18 Pa. 

C.S.A. § 911(c). Accordingly, in addition to enjoining Defendants from any future agreements to 

provide services to this or any similar usury scheme targeting Pennsylvania consumers, any 

equitable relief ordered against Defendants should also include, and the Commonwealth 

therefore demands, an order divesting and disgorging all income or monies obtained, directly or 

indirectly, from activity related to Defendants’ loans, or from any services provided in 

connection with such loans, attributable to Pennsylvania consumers, and invalidating any 

beneficial interest or title lien related to loans to Pennsylvania consumers.

COUNT THREE

Violation of Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law

46. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by this reference all prior paragraphs of this 

Complaint.

47. Defendants caused a likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding by 

misrepresenting, explicitly or implicitly, that it was legal for Defendants to offer and provide 

Title Loans to residents of the Commonwealth. In fact, these loans were void ab initio.

48. Defendants failed to register the name “CashPoint” with the Pennsylvania 

Department of State in accordance with the Fictitious Names Act, 54 Pa.C.S. § 301 et seq.

49. By conducting business in Pennsylvania without such mandatory registration and 

by causing a likelihood of consumer confusion as described above, Defendants committed unfair 
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and deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Section 201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law

including, without limitation: 

a. Section 201-2(4)(ii), by causing likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding as 

to the source, sponsorship, approval or certification of goods or services;

b. Section 201-2(4)(iii), by causing likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding 

as to affiliation, connection, or association with, or certification by another;

c. Section 201-2(4)(v), by representing that goods or services have sponsorship, 

approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not 

have;

d. Section 201-2(4)(xxi), by engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct 

which creates a likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding.

50. The Pennsylvania Attorney General is empowered by 73 P.S. § 201-4 to bring an 

equitable action to enjoin Defendants’ above-described unfair and deceptive lending practices 

prohibited by the Consumer Protection Law, and, as a component of such equitable relief, can 

obtain an appropriate order of restitution, ordering Defendants to “restore to any person in 

interest” any money acquired by means of such prohibited practices. 73 P.S. § 201-4.1.

51. The above-described Consumer Protection Law violations having been and 

continuing to be willful, in so far as they are the result of a deliberate scheme to circumvent state 

usury laws, the Commonwealth also requests, besides an appropriate order of restitution to 

benefit the injured Pennsylvania consumers, civil penalties for the benefit of the Commonwealth, 

in the amount of $1,000 per violation—and, in the case of consumers sixty years of age or older, 

$3,000 per violation—pursuant to 73 P.S. § 201-8(b).
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COUNT FOUR

Violations of the Loan Interest and Protection Law and Unfair Trade Practices and 

Consumer Protection Law

52. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by this reference all prior paragraphs of this 

Complaint.

53. The Office of Attorney General has the “standing to bring a civil action for 

injunctive relief and such other relief as may be appropriate to secure compliance” with LIPL. 41 

P.S. § 506(a). 

54. Defendants violated the LIPL by charging, collecting or contracting for interest 

and fees in excess of 6% per annum without a license under the CDCA, or otherwise authorized 

by any other provision of law. 7 P.S. § 6203; 41 P.S. §§ 201-202.

55. Defendants have violated the LIPL as set forth above, and by virtue of such 

violations have thereby also violated Section 201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law, including 

without limitation:

a. Section 201-2(4)(ii), by causing likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding as 

to the source, sponsorship, approval or certification of goods or services;

b. Section 201-2(4)(iii), by causing likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding 

as to affiliation, connection, or association with, or certification by another;

c. Section 201-2(4)(v), by representing that goods or services have sponsorship, 

approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not 

have;

Section 201-2(4)(xxi), by engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct 

which creates a likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commonwealth respectfully requests this Honorable Court to issue 

an Order:

A. Declaring Defendants’ conduct as described herein to be in violation of the COA, 

Consumer Protection Law, and LIPL;

B. Permanently enjoining Defendants and all other persons acting on their behalf, 

directly or indirectly, from engaging in any future violations;

C. Placing reasonable restrictions on Defendants’ future activities or investments and 

ordering Defendants to divest themselves of any interest, direct or indirect, in enterprises, as 

authorized by 18 Pa. C.S.A. § 911(d)(1);

D. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-4.1 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to make full restitution to all consumers who have suffered losses as a result of the acts and 

practices alleged herein and any other acts or practices which violate the Consumer Protection 

Law;

E. Directing Defendants to disgorge and forfeit all profits they have derived as a 

result of the conduct alleged herein;

F. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-8 (b) of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to pay civil penalties in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000) for each and every 

violation of the Consumer Protection Law, and three thousand dollars ($3,000) for each such 

violation involving a victim age sixty (60) or older;

G. Directing Defendants to pay the Commonwealth’s investigative and litigation 

costs in this matter;
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H. Invalidating any beneficial interest in consumer debt purportedly owed by 

Pennsylvania consumers and declaring that those balances were void ab initio;

I. In the event that Defendants have furnished any reports to credit bureaus 

regarding obligations they claim to be owed by Pennsylvania consumers, directing Defendants to 

notify credit bureaus to remove all such references to CashPoint or any related entities.

J. Directing Defendants to, within thirty (30) days: (1) provide PennDOT with all 

documents necessary to mark as satisfied and released any liens in Defendants’ names on motor

vehicles registered in the Commonwealth, and (2) convey proper and rightful vehicle title to all 

consumers who own a vehicle subject to such a lien;

K. Declaring Defendants’ conduct, as set forth in Count Four, in violation of the 

Loan Interest and Protection Law;

L. Permanently enjoining Defendants from taking any action to collect on Title 

Loans including, but not limited to, repossessing any collateral for Title Loans brokered, made, 

funded, purchased or assigned to Defendants;

M. Permanently enjoining Defendants from assigning, selling, transferring, 

purchasing, or taking assignment of any Title Loan; and

N. Granting such other relief as the Court deems necessary and appropriate.

[Signature Page Follows]
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Date: October 31, 2018 Respectfully submitted,

Josh Shapiro
Attorney General

Michelle A. Henry
First Deputy Attorney General

James A. Donahue III
Executive Deputy Attorney General
Public Protection Division

Sarah A. E. Frasch
Chief Deputy Attorney General
Director, Bureau of Consumer Protection

_/s/    Nicholas Smyth________________
Nicholas F. B. Smyth, PA 307972
Email: nsmyth@attorneygeneral.gov
Phone: 412-880-0475
John M. Abel, PA 47313
Email: jabel@attorneygeneral.gov
Phone: 717-783-1439
Senior Deputy Attorneys General
Assistant Directors, Bureau of Consumer Protection

Timothy R. Murphy, PA 321294
Deputy Attorney General
Email: tmurphy@attorneygeneral.gov
Phone: 215-560-2446

Attorneys for Plaintiff
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Office of Attorney General
1600 Arch St, Suite 300
Philadelphia, PA 19103
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